



Bylaws

| [Revised: [November 2022](#) [February 2023](#)]

INDEX

| Article # | Section & Subtitle | Page |
|------------------|---|-------------|
| I | Name | |
| | 1. Name | 5 |
| | 2. REALTOR® and REALTORS® | 5 |
| II | Objectives | |
| | 1. through 6. | 5 |
| III | Jurisdiction | |
| | 1. Jurisdiction | 5 |
| | 2. Territorial Jurisdiction Shall Mean and Refer to | 5 |
| IV | Membership | |
| | 1. Classes of Membership | 6 |
| | 2. Obligations of REALTOR® Membership | 8 |
| V | Qualification and Election | |
| | 1. Application | 8 |
| | 2. Qualification | 8 |
| | 3. Appointment | 9 |
| | 4. New Member Code of Ethics Orientation | 10 |
| | 5. Continuing REALTOR® Code of Ethics Training | 10 |
| VI | Privileges, Obligations, and Discipline | |
| | 1. Privileges of REALTOR® Members | 11 |
| | 2. Obligations of REALTOR® Members | 11 |
| | 3. Rights and Privileges by Membership Class | 12 |
| | 4. Discipline of Members | 12 |
| VII | Professional Standards and Arbitration | |
| | 1. Through 3. | 14 |
| VIII | Use of the Terms REALTOR® or REALTORS® | |
| | 1. through 5. | 14 |
| IX | State and National Memberships | |
| | 1. through 3. | 15 |
| X | Dues and Assessments | |
| | 1. Application Fee | 16 |
| | 2. Dues | 16 |
| | a. Designated REALTOR® Members | 16 |
| | b. REALTOR® Members | 17 |
| | c. Institute Affiliate Members | 17 |
| | d. Affiliate Members | 17 |

| | | |
|-------------|--|----|
| | e. Public Service Members | 17 |
| | f. Honorary Members | 17 |
| | g. Student Members | 17 |
| | h. RALSC REALTOR® Emeritus | 17 |
| 3. | Dues Payable | 18 |
| 4. | Nonpayment of Financial Obligations | 18 |
| 5. | Deposit and Expenditures | 18 |
| 6. | Notice of Dues, Fees, Fines, Assessments and Other Financial Obligations of Members | 18 |
| XI | Officers and Directors | |
| 1. | Officers | 18 |
| 2. | Duties of Officers | 19 |
| 3. | Executive Committee | 19 |
| 4. | Board of Directors | 20 |
| 5. | Election of Directors | 21 |
| 6. | Newly Elected Directors | 21 |
| 7. | Vacancies | 21 |
| 8. | Standard of Conduct | 22 |
| 9. | Removal of Officers/Directors by Directors | 22 |
| 10. | Chief Executive Officer | 22 |
| 11. | Term Limits | 23 |
| XII | Board Seats on NAR and Florida REALTORS® | |
| 1. | Florida REALTORS® | 23 |
| 2. | NAR | 23 |
| XIII | Meetings | |
| 1. | Annual Membership Meeting | 23 |
| 2. | Meetings of Directors | 23 |
| 3. | Other Meetings | 23 |
| 4. | Notice of Meetings | 23 |
| 5. | Quorum | 24 |
| 6. | Electronic Transaction of Business | 24 |
| 7. | Action without Meeting | 24 |
| XIV | Committees and Task Forces | |
| 1. | Standing Committees | 24 |
| 2. | Special Committees and Task Forces | 24 |
| 3. | Organization | 24 |
| 4. | President/President-Elect | 24 |
| 5. | Action Without Meeting | 24 |
| 6. | Attendance by Electronic Means | 25 |
| 7. | Attendance | 25 |
| XV | Fiscal and Elective Year | 25 |
| XVI | Rules of Order | 25 |

| | | |
|------------|---|----|
| XVII | Amendments 1. through 2. | 25 |
| XVIII | Dissolution | 25 |
| Appendix A | Limited Function Referral Office (LFRO) Certification Form | 26 |
| Appendix B | Petition for Removal of an Officer or Director of the Board | 27 |
| Appendix C | Directors' and Officers' Standard of Conduct | 28 |

**Refers to provisions required by NAR*

Article I

Name

Section 1. Name: The name of this organization shall be REALTORS® Association of Lake & Sumter Counties, Inc. (“Association”).

Section 2. REALTOR® and REALTORS®: Inclusion and retention of the Registered Collective Membership Mark REALTORS® in the name of the Association shall be governed by the Articles of Incorporation and Constitution and Bylaws of the National Association of REALTORS® (“NAR”), as amended from time to time.

Article II

Objectives

The Objectives of the Association Are:

Section 1. To unite those engaged in the recognized branches of the real estate profession for the purpose of exerting a beneficial influence upon the profession and related interests.

Section 2. To promote and maintain high standards of conduct in the real estate profession as expressed in the NAR Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual (“Code of Ethics”).

Section 3. To provide a unified medium for real estate owners and those engaged in the real estate profession whereby their interests may be safe-guarded and advanced.

Section 4. To further the interests of all types of real property ownership.

Section 5. To unite those engaged in the real estate profession in this Association with NAR and Florida REALTORS®, thereby furthering their own objectives throughout this State and nation, and obtaining the benefits and privileges of membership therein.

Section 6. To designate, for the benefit of the public, those individuals authorized to use the terms REALTOR® and REALTORS® as licensed, prescribed, and controlled by NAR.

Article III

Jurisdiction

Section 1. The territorial jurisdiction of the Association as a member of NAR shall include all of Lake and Sumter Counties.

Section 2. Territorial Jurisdiction Shall Mean and Refer to: The right and duty to control the use of the terms REALTOR® and REALTORS® subject to the conditions set forth in these Bylaws and those of NAR, in return for which the Association agrees to protect and safeguard the property rights of NAR.

Article IV **Membership**

Section 1. There shall be the following classes of Members:

(a) *Realtor® Members: REALTOR® Members, whether primary or secondary, shall be:

Individuals who, as sole proprietors, partners, corporate officers, or branch office managers, are engaged actively in the real estate profession, including buying, selling, exchanging, renting or leasing, managing, appraising for others for compensation, counseling, building, developing or subdividing real estate, and who maintain or are associated with an established real estate office in the state of Florida or a state contiguous thereto. All persons who are partners in a partnership, or all officers in a corporation who are actively engaged in the real estate profession within the state or a state contiguous thereto shall qualify for REALTOR® membership only, and each is required to hold REALTOR® membership (except as provided in the following paragraph) in an association of REALTORS® within the state or a state contiguous thereto, unless otherwise qualified for Institute Affiliate membership.

In the case of a real estate firm, partnership, or corporation, whose business activity is substantially all commercial, only those principals actively engaged in the real estate business in connection with the same office, or any other offices within the jurisdiction of the association in which one of the firm's principals holds REALTOR® membership, shall be required to hold REALTOR® membership unless otherwise qualified for Institute Affiliate membership.

Individuals who are engaged in the real estate profession other than as sole proprietors, partners, corporate officers, or branch office managers and are associated with a REALTOR® member and meet the qualifications.

(b) *Franchise REALTOR® Membership.

Corporate officers (who may be licensed or unlicensed) of a real estate brokerage franchise organization with at least one hundred fifty (150) franchisees located within the United States, its insular possessions and the commonwealth of Puerto Rico, elected to membership pursuant to the provisions in the NAR Constitution and Bylaws. Such individuals shall enjoy all of the rights, privileges, and obligations of REALTOR® membership (including compliance with the Code of Ethics) except: obligations related to association-mandated education, meeting attendance, or indoctrination classes or other similar requirements; the right to use the term REALTOR® in connection with their franchise organization's name; and the right to hold elective office in the local association, state association, and national association.

(c) *Primary and Secondary REALTOR® Members.

An individual is a primary member if the association pays state and national dues based on such member. An individual is a secondary member if state and national dues are remitted through another association. One of the principals in a real estate firm must be a

designated REALTOR® member of the association in order for licensees affiliated with the firm to select the association as their “primary” association.

- (d) ***Designated Realtor® Members:** Each firm (or office in the case of firms with multiple office locations) shall designate in writing one REALTOR® member who shall be responsible for all duties and obligations of membership, including the obligation to arbitrate (or to mediate if required by the association) pursuant to Article 17 of the Code of Ethics and the payment of association dues. The “Designated REALTOR®” must be a sole proprietor, partner, corporate officer, or branch office manager acting on behalf of the firm's principal(s) and must meet all other qualifications for REALTOR® membership.
- (e) ***Institute Affiliate Members:** Institute Affiliate members shall be individuals who hold a professional designation awarded by an Institute, Society, or Council affiliated with NAR that addresses a specialty area other than residential brokerage or individuals who otherwise hold a class of membership in such Institute, Society, or Council that confers the right to hold office. Any such individual, if otherwise eligible, may elect to hold REALTOR® or REALTOR-ASSOCIATE® membership, subject to payment of applicable dues for such membership.
- (f) **Affiliate Members:** Affiliate Members shall be individuals or firms who, while not engaged in the real estate profession as defined in Sections (a), (b), or (c) of this Section, have interests concerning real estate, and are aligned with the objectives of the Association.
- (g) **Public Service Members:** Public Service Members shall be individuals who are interested in the real estate profession as employees of or affiliated with educational, public utility, governmental, or other similar organizations, but are not engaged in the real estate profession on their own account or in association with an established real estate firm.
- (h) **Honorary Members:** Honorary Members shall be individuals not engaged in the real estate profession who have performed notable service for the real estate profession, for the Association, or for the public.
- (i) **Student Members:** Student Members shall be individuals who are seeking an undergraduate or graduate degree with a specialization or major in real estate at institutions of higher learning, and who have completed at least two (2) years of college and at least one (1) college level course in real estate but are not engaged in the real estate profession on their own account, and are not associated with a Member real estate firm.
- (j) **REALTOR® Emeritus Member:** This Association's REALTOR® Emeritus Member shall be a Member who is in and has maintained at least twenty-five (25) consecutive years of good standing with RALSC. A RALSC REALTOR® Emeritus Member shall enjoy all the rights, privileges, and obligations of REALTOR® Members and shall not be required to pay local dues. For purposes of this paragraph (j), membership in good standing shall not be abated by negligible lapse of time in payment of dues.

*** Section 2.** It shall be the duty and responsibility of every REALTOR® member of this Association to safeguard and promote the standards, interests, and welfare of the Association and the real estate profession, and to protect against conduct that may cause a lack of public confidence in the real estate profession or in REALTORS®. REALTOR® members also must abide by the governing documents and policies of the Association, the State Association (Florida REALTORS®), and *the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®*, as well as the Code of Ethics of *the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®*, including the duty to mediate and arbitrate controversies arising out of real estate transactions as specified by Article 17 of the Code of Ethics, and in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual.

Every REALTOR® member shall maintain a high level of integrity and adhere to the Association's membership criteria. Any violent act or threat of violence to person or property, hateful conduct, or acts of moral turpitude impacting the public shall not be tolerated and may be cause for disciplinary action, up to and including termination of membership.

Article V **Qualification and Election**

Section 1. Application: An application for membership shall be made available to anyone requesting it in such manner and form as prescribed by the Board of Directors. The application form shall contain, among the statements to be signed by the applicant (1) that the applicant agrees as a condition of membership to become substantially familiar with and abide by the Code of Ethics, the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, and Policies & Procedures of the National, State, and this Association and that if admitted as a REALTOR® Member will also agree to arbitrate controversies arising out of real estate transactions as specified in Article 17 of the Code of Ethics, (2) that applicant agrees that the Association, through its Member Services Department or otherwise, may invite and receive information and comment about applicant from any Member or other person, and that applicant agrees that any information and comment furnished to the Association by any person in response to the invitation shall be conclusively deemed to be privileged and not form the basis of any action for slander, libel, or defamation of character against the provider or the Association. The applicant shall, with the form of application, have access to a copy of the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Policies & Procedures, and the Code of Ethics.

Section 2. Qualification: An applicant for REALTOR® Membership who is a principal, partner, corporate member, manager, or corporate officer or branch office manager of a real estate firm shall supply evidence satisfactory to the Association through its Membership Services Department or otherwise, that the applicant is actively engaged and licensed in the real estate profession, maintains a current and valid real estate broker's license or is licensed or certified by the appropriate State regulatory agency to engage in the appraisal of real property, has a place of business within this State or a state contiguous thereto (unless a Secondary Member), has no record of recent or pending bankruptcy, has no record of official sanctions involving unprofessional conduct, agrees to complete an orientation covering and abide by NAR, Florida REALTORS®, and this Association's Bylaws and Policies & Procedures and shall successfully complete such reasonable written examination(s) thereon as the Board of Directors may require.

For purposes of this subsection 2, the following definitions shall apply:

a. **No Recent or Pending Bankruptcy** shall mean that the applicant or any real estate firm in which the applicant is a sole proprietor, general partner, corporate officer, member, or manager is not involved in any pending bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings or has not been adjudged bankrupt in the past three (3) years. If a bankruptcy proceeding as described above exists, membership may not be rejected unless the Association establishes that its interests and those of its Members and the public could not be adequately protected by requiring the bankrupt applicant to pay in advance for Association and MLS fees for up to one (1) year from the date the membership is approved or from the date that the applicant is discharged from bankruptcy, whichever is later. In the event that an existing Member initiates bankruptcy proceedings, the Member may be placed on an immediately available funds basis from the date the bankruptcy is initiated until one (1) year from the date that the Member has been discharged from bankruptcy.

b. **No Record of Official Sanctions Involving Unprofessional Conduct** shall mean that the Association may only consider:

- (1) Judgments within the past three (3) years of violations of civil rights laws;
- (2) Real estate license laws; or
- (3) Other laws prohibiting unprofessional conduct against the applicant rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction or other lawful authority; and criminal convictions if:
 - i. The crime was punishable by imprisonment in excess of one (1) year, and
 - ii. No more than ten (10) years have elapsed since the date of the conviction or the release of the applicant from the confinement imposed for that conviction, whichever is the later date.
 - iii. The Association is prohibited from knowingly granting REALTOR® membership to any applicant who has an unfulfilled sanction pending imposed by another Board or Association of REALTORS® for violation of the Code of Ethics.
- (4) Individuals who are actively engaged in the real estate profession other than as principals, partners, corporate officers, members, or managers, in order to qualify for REALTOR® Membership, shall at the time of application be associated either as an employee or as an independent contractor with a Designated REALTOR® Member of the Association, or a Designated REALTOR® Member of another association (if a Secondary Member) within this State, shall have the written recommendation of such REALTOR® Member, and shall maintain a current, valid real estate broker's or sales associate's license, or be licensed or certified by this State's regulatory agency to engage in the appraisal of real property, has no record of official sanctions involving unprofessional conduct, shall complete an orientation covering the Bylaws and Policies & Procedures of NAR, Florida REALTORS®, and this Association and the Code of Ethics.

Section 3. Appointment: The procedure for appointment to membership shall be as follows:

a. All applications for membership in the Association shall be submitted to the Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO"), who shall present such applications for approval by a simple majority of the Board of Directors at a properly noticed and convened meeting. All applications for membership should be in compliance with NAR's form and substance.

b. The Board of Directors may not decline an application without providing the applicant an opportunity to appear before the Board of Directors, to call witnesses, to be represented by counsel, and to make statements relevant to the defense of the application. The Board of Directors may also have counsel present. The Board of Directors shall require written minutes of any hearing before it and electronically or mechanically record the proceedings.

c. If the Board of Directors determines that the application should be declined, it shall enter its rationale with the CEO and if the Board of Directors believes that denial of membership to the applicant may become the basis for litigation or a claim for damages, the Board may specify in its denial that its order shall become effective upon entry of a final order by a court of competent jurisdiction, declaring that the denial does not violate the rights of the applicant.

***Section 4. New Member Code of Ethics Orientation:** Applicants for REALTOR® membership and provisional REALTOR® members (where applicable) shall complete an orientation program on the Code of Ethics of not less than two (2) hours and thirty (30) minutes of instructional time. This requirement does not apply to applicants for REALTOR® Membership or provisional members who have completed comparable orientation in another association; provided that REALTOR® Membership has been continuous, or that any break in membership is for one (1) year or less.

Failure to satisfy this requirement within ninety (90) days of the date of application (or, alternatively, the date that provisional membership was granted), will result in denial of the membership application or termination of provisional membership.

***Section 5. Continuing REALTOR® Code of Ethics Training:** Effective January 1, 2019, through December 31, 2021, and for successive three-year periods thereafter, each REALTOR® member of the association (with the exception of REALTOR® members granted REALTOR® Emeritus status by the National Association) shall be required to complete ethics training of not less than two (2) hours and thirty (30) minutes of instructional time. This requirement will be satisfied upon presentation of documentation that the member has completed a course of instruction conducted by this or another REALTOR® association, Florida REALTORS®, or NAR, which meets the learning objectives and minimum criteria established by NAR from time to time. REALTOR® members who have completed training as a requirement of membership in another association and REALTOR® members who have completed the New Member Code of Ethics Orientation during any three-year cycle shall not be required to complete additional ethics training until a new three-year cycle commences.

Failure to satisfy the required periodic ethics training shall be considered a violation of a membership duty. Failure to meet the requirement in any three-year cycle will result in suspension of membership for the first two months (January and February) of the year following the end of any three-year cycle or until the requirement is met, whichever occurs sooner. On March 1 of that year, the membership of a member who is still suspended as of that date will be automatically terminated.

Article VI

Privileges, Obligations, and Discipline

The privileges, obligations, and discipline of Members, in addition to those otherwise provided by these Bylaws, shall be as specified in this Article.

***Section 1. Privileges of REALTOR® Members:** REALTOR® Members, whether primary or secondary, in good standing whose financial obligations to the association are paid in full shall be entitled to vote and to hold elective office in the association; may use the terms REALTOR® and REALTORS®; and have the primary responsibility to safeguard and promote the standards, interests, and welfare of the association and the real estate profession.

Section 2. Obligation of REALTOR® Members.

***(a)** It shall be the duty and responsibility of every REALTOR® member of this association to abide by the Constitution and Bylaws and the rules and regulations of the association, the Constitution and Bylaws of the State Association, the *Constitution and Bylaws of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®*, and to abide by the Code of Ethics of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®, including the duty to arbitrate controversies arising out of real estate transactions as specified by Article 17 of the Code of Ethics, and as further defined and in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual of this association, as from time to time amended.

**Alternate Section 2 for associations that require members to mediate otherwise-arbitrable disputes.*

*It shall be the duty and responsibility of every REALTOR® member of this association to abide by the Constitution and Bylaws and the rules and regulations of the association, the Constitution and Bylaws of the State Association, the Constitution and Bylaws of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®, and to abide by the Code of Ethics of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®, including the duty to mediate and arbitrate controversies arising out of real estate transactions as specified by Article 17 of the Code of Ethics, and as further defined and in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual of this association, as from time to time amended. **(NOTE: THIS DOES NOT APPLY TO OUR ASSOCIATION)**

(b) Resignations of Members shall become effective when received in writing at Association headquarters. Future acceptance to membership of any Member who upon submitting resignation is indebted to the Association for dues, fees, fines, assessments or to any of its services, departments, divisions, or subsidiaries, may be conditioned to payment in full of all such monies owed.

(c) Certification By Realtor®: Designated REALTOR® Members of the Association shall certify to the Association, at least annually, during the month of January or such other month as may be determined by the Board of Directors, on a form approved by the Board of Directors, a complete listing of all licensees in the Designated REALTOR®'s firm(s) and shall designate a primary association for each individual who holds membership. Designated REALTORS® shall also identify any non-member licensee in the REALTORS®'s firm(s). If Designated REALTOR® dues have been paid to another association for those non-member licensees, the Designated REALTOR® shall identify the association to which dues have been remitted. These declarations shall be used for purposes of calculating dues under Article X, Section 2(a) of the Bylaws. Designated REALTOR®

Members shall also notify the Association of any additional individual(s) licensed under the firm(s) within sixty (60) days of the date of affiliation or separation of the individual.

Section 3. Rights and Privileges by Membership Class:

- (a) Institute Affiliate Members:** Institute Affiliate Members shall have rights and privileges and be subject to obligations prescribed by the Board of Directors consistent with the Constitution and Bylaws of the National Association.
- (b) Affiliate Members:** Affiliate Members shall have the rights and privileges and be subject to obligations prescribed by the Board of Directors.
- (c) Public Service Members:** Public Service Members shall have rights and privileges and be subject to obligations prescribed by the Board of Directors.
- (d) Honorary Members:** Honorary Membership shall confer only the right to attend meetings and participate in discussions.
- (e) Student Members:** Student Members shall have rights and privileges and be subject to obligations prescribed by the Board of Directors.
- (f) REALTOR® Emeritus Members:** This Association's REALTOR® Emeritus Members shall have the rights, privileges, and obligations of REALTOR® Members.

***Section 4. Discipline of Members:** Any REALTOR® member of the Association may be disciplined by the board of directors for violations of the Code of Ethics or other duties of membership, after a hearing as described in the Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual of the association, provided that the discipline imposed is consistent with the discipline authorized by the Professional Standards Committee of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® as set forth in the Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual of the National Association.

***Enforcement of the Code.** The responsibility of the association and of association members relating to the enforcement of the Code of Ethics, the disciplining of members, and the arbitration of disputes, and the organization and procedures incident thereto, shall be governed by the Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®, as amended from time to time, which is by this reference incorporated into these Bylaws, provided, however, that any provision deemed inconsistent with state law shall be deleted or amended to comply with state law.

- (a)** Any Member of this Association may be reprimanded, fined, placed on probation, suspended, or expelled by the Board of Directors for a violation of these Bylaws and Association Policies & Procedures after a hearing as provided in the Code of Ethics. Although Non-REALTOR® Members are not subject to the Code of Ethics, Non-REALTOR® Members are encouraged to abide by the principles established in the Code of Ethics and conduct their business and professional practices accordingly. Further, Non-REALTOR® Members may, upon recommendation by a hearing panel of the Professional Standards Committee, be subjected to discipline as described above, for any conduct, which in the opinion of the Board of Directors, applied on a nondiscriminatory basis, reflects adversely on the terms REALTOR®, REALTORS® and the real estate industry, or for conduct that is inconsistent with or adverse to the objectives and purposes of the NAR, FR and Association.

(b) Any REALTOR® Member of this Association may be disciplined by the Board of Directors for violations of the Code of Ethics or other duties of membership, after a hearing as described in the Code of Ethics; provided, that the discipline imposed is consistent with the discipline the Code of Ethics authorizes.

(c) If a Member resigns from the Association or otherwise causes membership to terminate while there is an ethics complaint pending against the Member, the complaint shall be processed until the decision of the Association with respect to disposition of the complaint is final by this Association (if the Member does not hold membership in any other association) or by any other association in which the Member continues to hold membership. If an ethics respondent resigns or otherwise causes membership in all associations to terminate before an ethics complaint alleging unethical conduct occurred while the respondent was a REALTOR® is filed, the complaint shall be processed until the decision of the Association is final. In any instance where an ethics hearing is held subsequent to an ethic respondent's resignation or membership termination, any discipline ratified by the Board of Directors shall be held in abeyance until such time as the respondent rejoins an association of REALTORS®.

(d) If a REALTOR® Member is a principal in a firm, partnership, or corporation and is suspended or expelled, the firm, partnership, or corporation shall not use the terms REALTOR® or REALTORS® in connection with its business during the period of suspension, or until readmission to REALTOR® Membership or unless connection with the firm, partnership, or corporation is severed, whichever may apply. The membership of all other principals, partners, or corporate officers shall be suspended or terminated during the period of suspension of the disciplined Member, or until readmission of the disciplined Member, or unless connection of the disciplined Member with the firm, partnership, or corporation is severed, whichever may apply. Further, the membership of REALTORS® other than principals who are employed by or affiliated as independent contractors with the disciplined Member shall be suspended or terminated during the period of suspension of the disciplined Member or until readmission of the disciplined Member or until connection of the disciplined Member with the firm, partnership, or corporation is severed, or unless the REALTOR® Member (non-principal) elects to sever his connection with the affiliate with another REALTOR® Member in good standing in the Association, whichever may apply. If a REALTOR® Member who is other than a principal in a firm, partnership, or corporation is suspended or expelled, the use of the terms REALTOR® or REALTORS® by the firm, partnership, or corporation shall not be affected.

(e) Harassment: Any member of the Association may be reprimanded, placed on probation, suspended, or expelled for harassment of an Association or MLS employee or Association officer or director after an investigation in accordance with the procedures of the Association. As used in this Section, harassment means any verbal or physical conduct including threatening or obscene language, unwelcome sexual advances, stalking, actions including strikes, shoves, kicks, or other similar physical contact, or threats to do the same, or any other conduct with the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance by creating a hostile, intimidating or offensive work environment. The decision of the appropriate disciplinary action to be taken shall be made by the investigatory team comprised of the president and president-elect, vice president, and one (1) member of the Board of Directors selected by the highest-ranking officer not named in the complaint, upon consultation with legal counsel for the Association. Disciplinary action may include any sanction authorized in the Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual. If the complaint names the president, president-elect, or vice president, they may not participate in the proceedings and shall be

replaced by the immediate past president or, alternatively, by another member of the Board of Directors selected by the highest-ranking officer not named in the complaint.

Note: Suggested procedures for processing complaints of harassment are available online at <http://www.REALTOR.org>, or from the Member Services Department.

Article VII **Professional Standards and Arbitration**

Section 1. The responsibility of the Association and of Association Members relating to the enforcement of the Code of Ethics, the disciplining of Members, and the arbitration of disputes, and the organization and procedures incident thereto, shall be governed by the Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual, as amended from time to time, which is by this reference incorporated into these Bylaws; provided however, that any provision deemed inconsistent with the laws of this State shall be deleted or amended to comply with State law.

Section 2. Pursuant to NAR's Code of Ethics & Arbitration Manual, Part Ten, Section 53, if an arbitration award has been rendered, the non-prevailing party must, within ten (10) days following transmittal of the award, either (1) pay the award to the party(ies) named in the award or (2) deposit the funds with the Professional Standards Administrator to be held in an escrow or trust account maintained for this purpose. In the event a party fails to, within ten (10) days of the date the award is transmitted, either pay the award to the party(ies) named in the award or deposit the funds with the professionally Standards Administrator of the Board administering the arbitration consistent with Section 53, The Award, Code of Ethics & Arbitration Manual, that failure shall be brought before the Directors. The Directors, consistent with Section 53, may, at their discretion, impose discipline, including but not limited to termination of Board membership and/or MLS access/use, or may give the party an additional period to make the required deposit. The directors may also stipulate appropriate discipline to be automatically imposed if the party fails to make the deposition within the time established by the Directors.

The Association shall establish an escrow or trust account for the purposes outlined above and in Part Ten, Section 53 of NAR's Code of Ethics & Arbitration Manual. Said escrow or trust account may be in the Association's name or the Association may use the escrow or trust account of its attorney.

Section 3. It shall be the duty and responsibility of every REALTOR® Member to abide by the NAR, FR, and this Association's Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Policies & Procedures, and the Code of Ethics, as amended from time to time.

Article VIII **Use of the Terms REALTOR® or REALTORS®**

***Section 1.** Inclusion and retention of the Registered Collective Membership Mark REALTORS® in the name of the association shall be governed by the *Constitution and Bylaws of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®* as from time to time amended.

Use of the terms REALTOR® and REALTORS® by members shall, at all times, be subject to the provisions of the *Constitution and Bylaws of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®* and to the Rules and Regulations prescribed by its board of directors. The association shall have the

authority to control, jointly and in full cooperation with the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®, use of the terms within its jurisdiction. Any misuse of the terms by members is a violation of a membership duty and may subject members to disciplinary action by the board of directors after a hearing as provided for in the association's Code of Ethics and Arbitration Manual.

***Section 2.** REALTOR® members of the association shall have the privilege of using the terms REALTOR® and REALTORS® in connection with their places of business within the state or a state contiguous thereto so long as they remain REALTOR® members in good standing. No other class of members shall have this privilege.

***Section 3.** A REALTOR® principal member may use the terms REALTOR® and REALTORS®, only if all the principals of such firm, partnership, or corporation who are actively engaged in the real estate profession within the state or a state contiguous thereto are REALTOR® members or Institute Affiliate members.

***Section 4.** In the case of a REALTOR® principal member whose business activity is substantially all commercial, the right to use the term REALTOR® or REALTORS® shall be limited to office locations in which a principal holds REALTOR® membership. If a firm, partnership, or corporation operates additional places of business in which no principal holds REALTOR® membership, the term REALTOR® or REALTORS® may not be used in any reference to those additional places of business.

***Section 5.** Institute Affiliate members shall not use the terms REALTOR® or REALTORS®, nor the imprint of the emblem seal of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®.

Article IX **State and National Memberships**

***Section 1.** The Association shall be a member of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® and the Florida Association of REALTORS®. By reason of the association's membership, each REALTOR® member of the Member Board shall be entitled to membership in the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® and the Florida Association of REALTORS® without further payment of dues. The Association shall continue as a member of the State and National Associations, unless by a majority vote of all of its REALTOR® members, decision is made to withdraw, in which case the State and National Associations shall be notified at least one month in advance of the date designated for the termination of such membership.

***Section 2:** The Association recognizes the exclusive property rights of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® in the terms REALTOR® and REALTORS®. The Association shall discontinue use of the terms in any form in its name, upon ceasing to be a member of the National Association, or upon a determination by the board of directors of the National Association that it has violated the conditions imposed upon the terms.

***Section 3.** The Association adopts the Code of Ethics of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® and agrees to enforce the Code among its REALTOR® members. The Association and all of its members agree to abide by the Constitution, Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, and policies of the National Association.

Article X

Dues and Assessments

***Section 1. Application Fee:** The board of directors may adopt an application fee for REALTOR® membership in reasonable amount, not exceeding three (3) times the amount of the annual dues for REALTOR® membership, which shall be required to accompany each application for REALTOR® membership and which shall become the property of the association upon final approval of the application.

Section 2. Dues: The annual dues of Members shall be as follows:

(a) ***Designated REALTOR® Members' Dues:** The annual dues of each Designated REALTOR® member shall be in such amount as established annually by the board of directors, plus an additional amount to be established annually by the board of directors times the number of real estate salespersons and licensed or certified appraisers who (1) are employed by or affiliated as independent contractors, or who are otherwise directly or indirectly licensed with such REALTOR® member, and (2) are not REALTOR® members of any association in the state or a state contiguous thereto or Institute Affiliate members of the association. In calculating the dues payable to the association by a designated REALTOR® member, non-member licensees as defined in (1) and (2) of this paragraph shall not be included in the computation of dues if the designated REALTOR® has paid dues based on said non-member licensees in another association in the state or a state contiguous thereto, provided the designated REALTOR® notifies the association in writing of the identity of the association to which dues have been remitted. In the case of a designated REALTOR® member in a firm, partnership, or corporation whose business activity is substantially all commercial, any assessments for non-member licensees shall be limited to licensees affiliated with the designated REALTOR® (as defined in (1) and (2) of this paragraph) in the office where the designated REALTOR® holds membership, and any other offices of the firm located within the jurisdiction of this association.

A REALTOR® member of a Member Board shall be held to be any member who has a place or places of business within the state or a state contiguous thereto and who, as a principal is actively engaged in the real estate profession as defined in Article III, Section 1 of the Constitution of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®. An individual shall be deemed to be licensed with a REALTOR® if the license of the individual is held by the REALTOR®, or by any broker who is licensed with the REALTOR®, or by any entity in which the REALTOR® has a direct or indirect ownership interest and which is engaged in other aspects of the real estate business provided that such licensee is not otherwise included in the computation of dues payable by the principal of the entity.

A REALTOR® with a direct or indirect ownership interest in an entity engaged exclusively in soliciting and/or referring clients and customers to the REALTOR® for consideration on a substantially exclusive basis shall annually file with the association on a form approved by the association a list of the licensees affiliated with that entity and shall certify that all of the licensees affiliated with the entity are solely engaged in referring clients and customers and are not engaged in listing, selling, leasing, renting, managing, counseling, or appraising real property. The individuals disclosed on such form shall not

be deemed to be licensed with the REALTOR® filing the form for purposes of this section and shall not be included in calculating the annual dues of the designated REALTOR®. Designated REALTORS® shall notify the association within three (3) days of any change in status of licensees in a referral firm.

The exemption for any licensee included on the certification form shall automatically be revoked upon the individual being engaged in real estate licensed activities (listing, selling, leasing, renting, managing, counseling, or appraising real property) other than referrals, and dues for the current fiscal year shall be payable.

Membership dues shall be prorated for any licensee included on a certification form submitted to the association who during the same calendar year applies for REALTOR® or REALTOR-ASSOCIATE® membership in the association. However, membership dues shall not be prorated if the licensee held REALTOR® or REALTOR-ASSOCIATE® membership during the preceding calendar year.

(b)* REALTOR® Members' Dues: The annual dues of REALTOR® members other than the designated REALTOR® shall be as established annually by the board of directors

(c)* Institute Affiliate Members' Dues: The annual dues of each Institute Affiliate member shall be as established in Article II of the Bylaws of the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®.

Note: The institutes, societies and councils of the National Association shall be responsible for collecting and remitting dues to the National Association for Institute Affiliate Members at NAR's current rate. The National Association shall credit the current rate (previously \$25) to the account of a local association for each Institute Affiliate Member whose office address is within the assigned territorial jurisdiction of that association; provided, however, if the office location is also within the territorial jurisdiction of a Commercial Overlay Board (COB), the current rate amount will be credited to the COB, unless the Institute Affiliate Member directs that the dues be distributed to the other association. The National Association shall also credit the current rate to the account of state associations for each institute affiliate member whose office address is located within the territorial jurisdiction of the State association. Local and State Associations may not establish any additional entrance, initiation fees or dues for institute affiliate members, but may provide service packages to which institute affiliate members may voluntarily subscribe.

(d) Affiliate Members: The annual dues of each Affiliate Member shall be established annually by the Board of Directors.

(e) Public Service Members: The annual dues of each Public Service Member shall be established annually by the Board of Directors.

(f) Honorary Members: Dues Payable, if any, shall be at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

(g) Student Members: Dues payable, if any, shall be at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

(h) RALSC Realtor® Emeritus Member: Shall pay no dues.

Section 3. Dues Payable: Dues for all Members shall be payable annually in advance at the beginning of each calendar year. Dues shall be computed from the first day of the month in which application is submitted and shall be prorated for the remainder of the year.

Section 4. Nonpayment of Financial Obligations: If dues, fees, fines, or other assessments owing to the Association are not paid within thirty (30) calendar days following the due date, the nonpaying Member will be notified in writing that the Member's account is delinquent and must be paid in full within thirty (30) calendar days following the date of the delinquency notice (the "Initial Delinquency Notice"). If dues, fees, fines or other assessments owing to the Association remain unpaid after thirty (30) calendar days following the date of the initial delinquency notice, the nonpaying Member will be notified in writing that the Member's membership will be automatically terminated without further notice should the Member's dues, fees, fines or assessments owing the Association not be paid in full within ten (10) calendar days following the date of the delinquency notice (the "Final Delinquency Notice"). If dues, fees, fines or other assessments owing to the Association remain unpaid after ten (10) calendar days following the date of the final delinquency notice, the nonpaying Member's membership in the Association will automatically terminate without further notice. The Board of Directors shall confirm compliance with the notification process set forth above for the automatic termination of any Member under this provision. Any Member, whose membership is terminated pursuant to this provision, shall be entitled to seek reinstatement of the membership in the Association in the manner prescribed for new applicants for membership following full payment of any and all dues, fees, fines and other assessments owing to the Association plus interest at the highest rate permissible by law from the date of termination.

Section 5. Deposit and Expenditures: Deposits and expenditures of funds shall be in accordance with policies established by the Board of Directors.

Section 6. Notice of Dues, Fees, Fines, Assessments and Other Financial Obligations of Members: All dues, fees, fines, assessments, or other financial obligations to the Association or Multiple Listing Service shall be noticed to the delinquent Member in writing, setting forth the amount owed and due date.

Article XI **Officers and Directors**

Section 1. Officers:

a. The officers of the Association shall be: President, President-Elect, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer. Except for the position of Secretary, the officers shall be appointed for one (1) year terms by the Board of Directors from the membership of the Board of Directors.

b. The incoming Board of Directors for the following year is entitled to convene in the year prior to taking office at a properly noticed meeting in order to elect officers for the following year as required by the State and National Associations, which election must be ratified at the first scheduled meeting of the Board of Directors in the following year. The appointments shall be ratified at a meeting of the Board of Directors in January of each year, and officers appointed shall serve until their successors are appointed the following January, unless they sooner resign or are removed from office. At the January meeting of the Board of Directors, the outgoing President shall chair the meeting until the appointment of the new President. Each appointment shall be made by a simple

majority vote of a quorum of Directors present upon motion made and seconded.

c. Other than the position of President, any vacancy as to an office position of the Association shall be filled by a Member appointed by the President and approved by the Board of Directors by simple majority vote at a duly noticed and convened meeting, which Members shall serve the remaining term of the vacated position.

d. The Board of Directors may employ staff, including a Chief Executive Officer, for the management of the day-to-day affairs of the Association and upon terms deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors. Without further action by the Association and its Board of Directors, the CEO shall concurrently serve and hold the position of CEO and corporate Secretary of the Association, and shall execute such duties and responsibilities as required of and assigned to the respective positions.

e. Unless otherwise prohibited or restricted under applicable state and federal law and NAR, the election of officers may be conducted through electronic means in accordance with procedures established by the Board of Directors.

f. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there shall be an automatic Executive Officer succession plan in place so that the Vice President automatically assumes the position of President-Elect upon the conclusion of the term of the incumbent President-Elect, the President-Elect automatically assumes the position of President upon the conclusion of the term of the incumbent President, and the President automatically assumes the position of Immediate Past President upon the conclusion of the term of the incumbent Immediate Past President.

Section 2. Duties of Officers: The duties of the officers shall be such as (i) their titles, by general usage would indicate; (ii) defined under the Policies & Procedures Manual, and (iii) assigned to them by the Board of Directors. It shall be the particular duty of the CEO to keep the records of the Association and to carry on all necessary correspondence with NAR and Florida Realtors®.

Section 3. Executive Committee: The committee will consist of the President, President-Elect, Vice President, Treasurer, and Immediate Past President. The Executive Committee shall have such duties, responsibilities, and authority as set forth in these Bylaws, the Policies and Procedures Manual and as approved by the Board of Directors. Further, should the Board of Directors fail to convene after two (2) consecutive duly noticed meetings, regular or special, for failing to satisfy the requisite quorum, as set forth by the Bylaws, the Executive Committee may convene and, on its unanimous approval, take such necessary actions on behalf of the Association in lieu of the approval and authority of the Board of Directors, as long as such actions by the Executive Committee are within the authority granted to the Board of Directors, as established by these Bylaws and other governing documents of the Association. However, in the event of a conflict between these Bylaws and other Association governing documents, the provisions of these Bylaws shall control. The Executive Committee *may not* take any action on behalf of the Association, which such actions are outside the authority or purview of the Board of Directors or Executive Committee as set forth in these Bylaws or other governing documents of the Association or applicable law. Any actions taken by the Executive Committee on behalf of the Association must be reported with specificity to the Board of Directors at such regular or special meeting that immediately follows said action, and the Board of Directors must vote to either ratify or overturn the actions of the Executive Committee.

Section 4. Board of Directors: Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Director's term has expired immediately prior to commencing tenure as Vice President, President-Elect, President, or Immediate Past President, then said Director shall continue to serve in that capacity as Vice President, President-Elect, President, or Immediate Past President on the Board of Directors while serving in such position, and the number of Directors serving on the Board of Directors shall be expanded as necessary to allow for such Director to serve as Vice President, President-Elect, President, or Immediate Past President, and the seat vacated by the Director serving as Vice President, President-Elect, President, or Immediate Past President shall be available to a successor to be elected to said vacated position. In the event that the Board of Directors is so expanded, there shall be no election for a Director at Large position that year if the Board is expanded to an odd number of directors; however, if expanding the Board of Directors to allow a Director to continue to serve as Vice President, President-Elect, President, or Immediate Past President, as allowed herein, would result in the Board of Directors expanding to an even number of directors, there shall be an election of a Director at Large position that year to ensure that the number of directors remains an odd number: however, at no time shall the Board of Directors contain less than three (3) directors and no more than nineteen (19) directors.

For purposes of qualifying for election to a seat on the Board of Directors for a particular district, a Member is "from" a district when the firm from which the Member normally and customarily conducts business at the time of being nominated for said seat and for 6 months immediately prior thereto is located in the same district for which said Member is being nominated to be elected.

a. Staggered Term. Approximately one-third (1/3) of the directors shall be elected every three (3) years to serve for up to four 3-year terms, such that the terms of approximately one-third (1/3) of the directors shall expire each year, except in the event of vacancies, removal, newly elected directors or otherwise, as provided herein, the director may be elected to a shorter term as may appropriate to maintain the balance of staggered terms. Directors shall hold office until their successors are elected and qualified.

b. Districts. The territory in which the Association has Members that represent Lake and Sumter Counties, shall be divided into three districts and four directors shall be elected from each of the three (3) districts, with an additional seat granted to the North Lake or South Lake Districts depending on the election year. The manner and method of reapportioning the directors, modifying the boundaries of the districts and redistricting the territory covered by the Association shall be affected through the designation of member population in Lake and Sumter Counties to each of the three (3) districts in a manner that fairly and adequately represent and reflect the Association's membership. In the month of April of every even year, the District Designation Committee, being comprised of the President, members of the Executive Committee and up to three other members selected by the President, shall be convened by the President to consider reapportioning the directors, modifying the boundaries of districts and redistricting the territory covered by the Association to ensure that the districts fairly and adequately represent and reflect the Association's membership. The Board of Directors shall convene at a duly noticed meeting held prior to July 1 of the same year to consider the recommendations of the District Designation Committee at which meeting the Board of Directors shall have the authority by simple majority to reapportion the directors, modify the boundaries of the districts and redistrict the territory covered by the Association to ensure that the districts fairly and adequately represent and reflect the Association's membership.

c. Qualifications to Serve on Board of Directors.

- 1) Any member serving on the Board of Directors must be a duly licensed Realtor® or broker in the State of Florida and current Member of the Association, for a minimum of three (3) years prior to election and a Member continuously in good standing.
- 2) No more than two (2) Members from any real estate brokerage firm shall be entitled to serve on the Board of Directors at the same time. If one director moves to an office with two currently serving directors, the moving director automatically relinquishes his or her seat on the Board of Directors without further action needed by the Board of Directors. If two directors move to an office at the same time with one currently serving director, the Executive Committee shall make a recommendation to the Board of Directors as to how to resolve the issue, including whether one of the moving directors should be removed and, if so, who should be removed. The Board of Directors shall then vote on the Executive Committee's recommendation at a duly noticed meeting of the Board of Directors.
- 3) A Member shall not be eligible to serve on the Board of Directors should within three (3) years prior to serving on the Board of Directors such Member had been removed or resigned as an **officer or** director serving on the Board of Directors or suspended from membership.
- 4) Serve on and participate on at least three (3)-two (2) committees within the five (5) years prior to the election.
- 5) Give time, talents, or financial support to the Association and RPAC.

Section 5. Election of Directors:

a. Credentials Committee. At least one (1) month before the annual election, a “Credentials Committee” of five (5) Members shall be appointed by the President and approved by the Board of Directors by simple majority at a duly convened meeting. The Credentials Committee shall verify each applicant for Director that meets the qualifications for service in the desired position. The list of qualifying candidates as determined by the Credentials Committee shall be filed with the Secretary or the Secretary’s designee at least two weeks prior to the election. Candidates for election must meet the qualification requirements established by these Bylaws or any other rules and regulations established by the Association. The Secretary shall send notice of the qualifying candidates to all members eligible to vote at least one week prior to the election.

b. Election by Electronic Means. Where permitted by State law, and in accordance with applicable State requirements, election of directors may be conducted by electronic means, in accordance with procedures established by the Board of Directors.

c. Election Committee. The President, with the approval of the Board of Directors, shall appoint an “Election Committee”, comprised of five (5) Members, to oversee the elections in accordance with the governing laws of the Association, Florida Realtors and NAR.

Section 6. Newly Elected Directors: Newly elected Directors shall be sworn into office prior to January 1 of the upcoming year at a time and place designated by the Board of Directors, and they

shall take office effective the first Board of Directors meeting of the upcoming year.

Section 7. Vacancies: The President shall appoint Members to fill any vacancies on the Board of Directors, which appointment must be approved by the vote of a simple majority of the Board of Directors. Any director filling a vacancy shall serve for the remaining term of the position vacated. The President shall appoint Members preferably from the same district as the seat being vacated, who must meet the same qualification standards as required by Policy and Procedures Manual and Bylaws. Directors appointed by president shall be verified by Credentials Committee, prior to being seated or announced to the Membership. Newly appointed directors shall be sworn into office at a time and place designated by the Board of Directors and shall take office effective immediately.

Section 8. Standard of Conduct. Each Director and Officer shall at all times abide by and follow the Directors' and Officers' Standard of Conduct incorporated into herein and attached to these Bylaws as Appendix C.

Section 9. Removal of Officers/Directors by Directors: In the event a Member's real estate license is placed in an inactive, voided, suspended, or revoked status by the regulatory agency, the Member shall be disqualified to serve and removed as a Director or Officer in the Association automatically, without further notice or action by the Association, following the issuance of the notice of change of licensing status by the respective governing agency. However, if the Member's license is reinstated, and notice of reinstatement is provided to the Association. Any position vacated by operation of this provision shall be filled in accordance with the applicable provision of these Bylaws.

In the event that a Member, Director, or Officer is deemed to be incapable of fulfilling the duties for which appointed or has violated their duties for which appointed (including, but not limited to, violating the Directors' and Officers' Standard of Conduct), but will not resign from the position voluntarily, the Member, Director, or Officer may be removed from the position under the following procedure:

a. A petition (Appendix B) requiring the removal of Member as an officer and/or director, and signed by not less than one-third (1/3) of all Directors then serving on the Board of Directors shall be filed with the Secretary and shall specifically set forth the reason the individual is deemed to be disqualified from further service.

b. Upon receipt of the petition, and not less than twenty (20) days or more than forty-five (45) days thereafter, a special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held, and the sole business of the meeting shall be to consider the charge against the Member and to render a decision on such petition.

c. The special meeting shall be noticed to all Directors at least seven (7) days prior to the meeting, and shall be conducted by the President unless the President's continued service in office is being considered at the meeting. In such case, the next-ranking officer will conduct the meeting. Provided a quorum is present, a majority vote of Directors present and voting shall be required for removal from office.

Once a Member is removed or resigns as an officer or director pursuant to this Section 8, such Member shall automatically be disqualified from holding a position as an officer or director for a period of no less than three (3) years following the Member's removal and resignation.

Section 10. Chief Executive Officer: There shall be a Chief Executive Officer, appointed by the Board of Directors, who shall be the chief administrative officer of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer shall have the authority to hire, supervise, evaluate, and terminate other staff, if any, and shall perform such other duties as prescribed by the Board of Directors.

Section 11. Term Limits: Each Director on the Board of Directors shall be entitled to serve no more than four 3-year terms. In other words, no Member shall be entitled to serve as a Director on the Board of Directors for more than a total of 12 years cumulatively. Accordingly, a Director must begin their tenure as Vice President no later than their ninth (9th) year on the Board of Directors to allow for them to assume the roles of President-Elect, President, and Immediate Past President within these Term Limits.

Article XII **Board Seats on NAR and Florida REALTORS®**

Section 1. Board Seats on Florida REALTORS®. Depending on the number of available seats on the Board of Directors of Florida REALTORS®, the following individuals shall automatically fill those seats on behalf of the Association: Chair of the Public Policy Committee, Chair of the Bylaws and Administrative Procedures Manual Committee, Treasurer, Vice President, President-Elect, President, and Immediate Past President. Any other available seats on the Board of Directors of Florida REALTORS® shall be appointed by the President-Elect and ratified by the Association's Board of Directors from Association members in good standing.

Section 2. Board Seat on NAR. Any available seat(s) on the Board of Directors of NAR shall be appointed by the President-Elect and ratified by the Association's Board of Directors from Association members in good standing.

Article XIII **Meetings**

Section 1. Annual Membership Meeting: At least one Membership Meeting shall be held annually at a place, date, and hour to be designated by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Meetings of Directors: The Board of Directors shall designate a regular time and place of meetings. Meetings shall be held at such times designated by the Board of Directors or more often upon the call of the President or upon the call of two (2) or more Directors and one (1) Officer. Absence from three (3) regular meetings within one calendar year shall be construed as automatic resignation without recourse, at which time the director's position shall become vacant and filled in accordance with the applicable provision of these Bylaws.

Section 3. Other Meetings: Meetings of the Members may be held at such other times as the President or Board of Directors may determine, or upon the written request of at least ten (10%) percent of the Members eligible to vote.

Section 4. Notice of Meetings: Notice shall be given to every Member entitled to participate in the meeting at least one (1) week preceding all meetings. If a special meeting is called, it shall be accompanied by a statement of the purpose of the meeting.

Section 5. Quorum: A quorum for a Board of Directors meeting shall require fifty (50%) percent of the officers and directors eligible to vote, plus one (1). A quorum for the General Membership Meeting shall be 5% of Members eligible to vote. No business binding upon the General Membership shall be finalized at special meetings unless the call to meeting included notice as to the subject and intended action.

Section 6. Electronic Transaction of Business: To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Board of Directors or Membership may conduct business by electronic means.

Section 7. Action without Meeting: Unless specifically prohibited by the Articles of Incorporation, any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the Directors. The consent shall be evidenced by one (1) or more written approvals, each of which sets forth the action taken and bears the signature of one or more Directors. All the approvals evidencing the consent shall be delivered to the CEO to be filed in the corporate records. The action taken shall be effective when all Directors have approved the consent unless the consent specifies a different effective date.

Article XIV **Committees and Task Forces**

Section 1. Standing Committees: The President shall appoint from among the REALTOR® Members in good standing, subject to confirmation by the Board of Directors, the following permanent committees and their respective chairpersons: (i) Grievance; (ii) Professional Standards; (iii) Finance; (iv) Building Assets and Maintenance; (v) Public Policy; (vi) Young Professionals Network; (vii) Global; (viii) Education; (ix) Community Awareness; (x) Bylaws and Administrative Procedures Manual; (xi) Membership Recognition; and (xii) Diversity and Inclusion; and (xiii) Executive Committee.

Section 2. Special Committees and Task Forces: The President shall appoint from among the REALTOR® Members in good standing, subject to confirmation by the Board of Directors, all special committees and task forces and their respective chairs. The following are the current permanent task forces: (i) Credentials; (ii) Awards; and (iii) Screening.

Section 3. Organization: All committees shall be of such size and shall have duties, functions, and powers as assigned by the President and the Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in the Bylaws. At all times, the majority of individuals serving on any committee, other than affiliate committees, must be REALTOR® Members of the Association not serving in a capacity as a Director or Officer of the Association. Each Director serving on the Board of Directors is required to serve on no less than one (1) committee during their term as a director, except for the President-Elect who shall be an ex-officio member of each committee, without voting power.

Section 4. President/President-Elect: The President and the President-Elect shall be notified of all committee meetings, and entitled, but not required, to attend.

Section 5. Action without Meeting: Any committee may act by unanimous consent, in writing, without a meeting. The consent shall be evidenced by one or more written approvals, each of which

sets forth the action taken and bears the signature of one (1) or more of the members of the committee.

Section 6. Attendance by Electronic Means: Members of a committee may participate in any meeting through the use of a conference telephone or other electronic means in which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other and/or facsimile or e-mail. Such participation shall be at the discretion of the committee's chairperson and shall constitute presence at the meeting.

Section 7. Attendance: Any Committee member who fails to attend (3) regular meetings of the Committee, without excuse acceptable to the Chairperson of the Committee, shall be deemed to have resigned, and the vacancy shall be filled as herein provided original appointees.

Article XIV **Fiscal and Elective Year**

The fiscal and elective year of the Association shall be the calendar year.

Article XV **Rules of Order**

Robert's Rules of Order Revised, latest edition, shall be recognized as the authority governing the meetings of the Association, its Board of Directors, and committees, in all instances wherein its provisions do not conflict with these Bylaws.

Article XVI **Amendments**

Section 1. These Bylaws may be amended by majority vote of the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present; provided that notice of all meetings at which amendments are to be considered shall be given to every Member eligible to vote at least one (1) week prior to the meeting.

Section 2. Amendments to these Bylaws affecting the admission or qualification of REALTOR®, and Institute Affiliate Members, the use of the terms REALTOR® or REALTORS® or any alteration in the territorial jurisdiction of the Association shall become effective upon their approval by the Board of Directors of the National Association of REALTORS®.

Article XVII **Dissolution**

Upon the dissolution of this Association, the Board of Directors, after providing for the payment of all obligations, shall distribute any remaining assets to the Florida Realtors® or, within its discretion, to any other non-profit tax exempt organization.

Appendix A

LIMITED FUNCTION REFERRAL OFFICE (LFRO) CERTIFICATION FORM

To Designated REALTORS®: Please complete the following and return to REALTORS® Association of Lake & Sumter Counties, Inc.

In accordance with Article X, Section 2 (a) (1), of the Associations Bylaws, a REALTOR® with a direct or indirect ownership interest in an entity engaged exclusively in soliciting and/or referring clients and customers to the REALTOR® for consideration on a substantially exclusive basis shall annually file with the Association, on a form approved by the Association, a list of the licensees affiliated with that entity and shall certify that all of the licensees affiliated with the entity are solely engaged in referring clients and customers, and are not engaged in listing, selling, leasing, managing, counseling or appraising real property. The individuals disclosed on such form shall not be deemed to be licensed with the REALTOR® filing the form for purposes of this Section and shall not be included in calculating the annual dues of the Designated REALTORS®.

Agent Name _____ Agent License Number _____

Certified by Designated REALTOR® (Print Name)

_____ (Date)

Signature of Designated REALTOR®

Office Name

Appendix B
Petition for Removal of an Officer and/or Director of the Board
In accordance with the Association Bylaws, Article XI, Section 8

I hereby affix my signature to this petition, requesting a special meeting of the Board in accordance with the Association Bylaws. (Refer below)

In the event that an Officer or Director is deemed to be incapable of fulfilling the duties for which appointed, but will not resign from office voluntarily, the Officer or Director may be removed from office under the following procedure:

(a) A petition requiring the removal of an Officer or Director signed by not less than one-third (1/3) of all Directors shall be filed with the CEO/Secretary and shall specifically set forth the reason the individual is deemed to be disqualified from further service.

(b) Upon receipt of the petition, and not less than twenty (20) days or more than forty-five (45) days thereafter, a special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held, and the sole business of the meeting shall be to consider the charge against the Officer or Director and to render a decision on such petition.

(c) The special meeting shall be noticed to all Directors at least seven (7) days prior to the meeting, and shall be conducted by the President unless the President's continued service in office is being considered at the meeting. In such case, the next-ranking Officer will conduct the meeting. Provided a quorum is present, a majority vote of Directors present and voting shall be required for removal of an Officer or Director from office.

Reason for request for removal:

I am requesting the special meeting for the reason stated above (attach additional sheets, if necessary). The CEO/Secretary will schedule the special Board meeting as directed in item (c) above in not less than 20 days or more than 45 days from the date of the last signature on this petition.

I hereby affix my signature to this petition.

Date: _____ Member Signature: _____

Appendix C

REALTORS® ASSOCIATION OF LAKE & SUMTER COUNTIES

DIRECTORS' & OFFICERS' STANDARD OF CONDUCT

Organizational Standard of Conduct:

The Realtors® Association of Lake & Sumter Counties (“RALSC”) and its Directors and Officers must, at all times, comply with all applicable laws and regulations. RALSC will not condone the activities of Directors or Officers who achieve results through violation of the law or unethical business dealings. This includes any payments for illegal acts, indirect contributions, and bribery. RALSC does not permit any activity that fails to stand the closest possible public scrutiny.

RALSC's Directors and Officers must ensure that their actions cannot be interpreted as being, in any way, in contravention of the laws and regulations governing RALSC's operations, including, but not limited to, the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Administrative Procedures Manual, Code of Ethics, and policies, procedures, rules, and regulations of the National Association of Realtors, Florida Realtors, and RALSC.

Directors and Officers uncertain or unsure about the application or interpretation of any legal requirements should refer the matter to RALSC's President and/or CEO, who, if necessary, should seek appropriate legal advice.

General Conduct of Directors and Officers:

RALSC expects its Directors and Officers to conduct themselves in a businesslike, professional manner. Excessive drinking, gambling, fighting, swearing, and similar unprofessional activities are strictly prohibited while acting in the capacity as a Director or Officer of RALSC.

Directors and Officers must act lawfully, honestly, ethically, and in the best interests of RALSC and its members, Directors, Officers, affiliates, and business partners at all times.

Directors and Officers must promote a positive organizational environment in which everyone feels included and empowered to do the right thing and speak up when they have ideas or concerns. This means listening to questions and concerns and escalating when needed.

Directors and Officers must not discriminate against any member, Director, Officer, affiliate, or business partner based on race color, ethnic, or national origin; age; religion or religious creed or belief; sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding, reproductive health decisions or related medical conditions); sexual orientation; gender, gender identity, gender expression, transgender status or sexual stereotypes; nationality, immigration status, citizenship, or ancestry; marital status; protected military or veteran status; physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic information or characteristics (or those of a family member); political views or activity; status as a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking; and/or any other basis prohibited under applicable law.

Directors and Officers must treat others (including, but not limited to, RALSC members, Directors, Officers, affiliates, and business partners) with dignity and respect, regardless of role, position, or status. Directors and Officers should consider the needs and perspectives of others and how their words and actions might be received.

Directors and Officers must never threaten, act violently toward, or harass others. Directors and Officers are prohibited from insulting, bullying, disparaging, shaming, or mocking others. This includes conduct that creates a disrespectful, unprofessional, demeaning, intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating, or offensive environment. Engaging in such conduct is a violation of this Standard of Conduct.

Because the intent of this Standard of Conduct is to deter conduct that is unwanted, unreasonable, and demeaning, RALSC may consider an individual's conduct to be in violation of this policy even if it falls short of unlawful harassment under applicable law. When determining whether conduct violates this policy, RALSC considers whether a reasonable person could conclude that the conduct created a disrespectful, unprofessional, demeaning, intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating, or offensive environment.

Harassment can range from extreme forms such as violence, threats, or physical touching to less obvious actions like ridiculing, teasing, or repeatedly bothering colleagues or refusing to talk to them.

For example, harassment may include the following types of conduct:

- Derogatory or insensitive jokes, pranks, or comments;
- Slurs or epithets;
- Unwelcome sexual advances or invitations;
- Non-verbal behavior such as staring, leering, or gestures;
- Ridiculing or demeaning comments;
- Innuendos or veiled threats;
- Intentionally excluding someone from normal RALSC-related conversations and making them feel unwelcome;
- Displaying or sharing (1) offensive images such as posters, videos, photos, cartoons, screensavers, emails, or drawings that are derogatory or sexual, or (2) symbols of hate directed at race, religion, or other protected categories;
- Offensive comments about appearance, or other personal, financial, or physical characteristics, including, but not limited to, sexually charged comments or comments on someone's physical disability;
- Unnecessary or unwanted bodily contact such as groping or massaging, blocking normal movement, or physically interfering with the work of another individual; or
- Threats or demands that a person submit to sexual requests as a condition of continued service as a member, director, or officer of RALSC or to avoid some other loss, and offers of service-related benefits in return for sexual favors.

This list of examples is not exhaustive, and there may be other behaviors that constitute unacceptable harassment under this policy.

Directors and Officers shall not engage in sexual harassment or conduct themselves in a way that could be construed as such. Sexual harassment is harassment specifically based on sex, and/or unwanted conduct of a sexual nature and may include, but is not limited to:

- **Hostile Professional Environment:** Conduct that has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's performance as a Director or Officer of RALSC, or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive professional environment. This can include using inappropriate language, keeping or posting inappropriate materials, or accessing inappropriate materials on their computer while acting as Directors or Officers of RALSC; and
- **Quid Pro Quo Harassment:** Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's position as a Director or Officer of RALSC, or when submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for decisions affecting that individual's position as a Director or Officer of RALSC.

Sexual harassment can happen regardless of the individuals' gender, gender identity, or gender expression and can, for example, occur between same-sex individuals as well as between opposite-sex individuals, and does not require that the harassing conduct be motivated by sexual desire.

RALSC does not tolerate bullying. Bullying may include abusive conduct, or other intimidating, aggressive, offensive, malicious, or insulting behavior. Bullying includes an abuse of power which is intended to undermine, exclude, humiliate, or demean an individual covered by this policy, whether or not it is based on a protected category. If a Director or Officer is found to be bullying their colleagues, RALSC may take appropriate action to stop the behavior.

Conflicts of Interest:

RALSC expects its Directors and Officers to perform their duties conscientiously, honestly, and in accordance with the best interests of RALSC. Directors and Officers must not use their positions or the knowledge gained as a result of their positions for private or personal advantage. Regardless of the circumstances, if Directors or Officers sense that a course of action they have pursued, or are presently pursuing, or are contemplating pursuing may involve them in a conflict of interest with RALSC, they should immediately communicate all the facts to RALSC's President and/or CEO.

Outside Activities:

All Directors and Officers share a serious responsibility for RALSC's good public relations, especially at the community level. Their readiness to help with charitable, education, and civic activities brings credit to RALSC and is encouraged. Directors and Officers, however, must avoid acquiring any business interest or participating in any other activity outside RALSC that would, or would appear, to:

- Create an excessive demand upon their time and attention, thus depriving RALSC of their best efforts while acting in their capacity as a Director or Officer of RALSC; and/or

- Create a conflict of interest, obligation, interest, or distraction that may interfere with the independent exercise of judgment in RALSC's best interest.

Relationships with Outside People or Organizations:

Directors and Officers should avoid investing in or acquiring a financial interest for their own accounts in any organization that has a contractual relationship with RALSC, or that provides goods or services, or both, to RALSC if such investment or interest could influence or create the impression of influencing their decisions in the performance of their duties on behalf of RALSC.

Directors and Officers must take care to separate their personal, individual roles and responsibilities from their capacities as Directors and Officers of RALSC when communicating on matters not involving RALSC business. Directors and Officers must not use RALSC identification, stationary, supplies, and equipment for personal or political matters.

When dealing or communicating with anyone outside RALSC, including personal or prospective clients, public officials, affiliates, business partners, and community members, Directors and Officers must take care not to compromise the integrity or damage the reputation of RALSC, its members, Directors, and Officers, or any outside individual, organization, business, or governmental body.

Gifts, Entertainment, and Favors:

Directors and Officers of RALSC shall not accept gifts, entertainment, or personal favors that could, in any way, influence or appear to influence business decisions in favor of any person or organization with whom or with which RALSC has, or is likely to have, business dealings. Similarly, Directors and Officers must not accept any other preferential treatment under these circumstances because their positions with RALSC might be inclined to, or be perceived to, place them under obligation to return the preferential treatment.

Kickbacks and Secret Payments:

Regarding RALSC's business activities, Directors and Officers shall not receive payment or compensation of any kind, except as authorized under RALSC's governing documents. In particular, RALSC strictly prohibits the acceptance of kickbacks and secret payments from any person or organization to any Director or Officer.

Organization Funds and Other Assets:

Directors and Officers who have access to RALSC funds in any form must follow the prescribed procedures for recording, handling, spending, and protecting money as detailed in RALSC's policies and procedures or other explanatory materials, or both. RALSC imposes strict standards to prevent fraud and dishonesty. If Directors and Officers become aware of any evidence of fraud and dishonesty, they should immediately advise RALSC's President and/or CEO or seek appropriate legal guidance so that RALSC can promptly investigate further.

When a Director or Officer's position requires spending RALSC funds or incurring any reimbursable personal expenses, that individual must use good judgment on RALSC's behalf to ensure that good value is received for every expenditure.

RALSC's funds and all other assets of RALSC are purposed for RALSC only and not for personal benefit. This includes the personal use of RALSC's assets, such as tablets and computers.

Organizational Communications:

Directors and Officers must not make or engage in any false record or communication of any kind, whether internal or external, including, but not limited to:

- False expense, attendance, production, financial, or similar reports and statements; and/or
- False advertising, deceptive marketing materials or practices, or other misleading representations.

Reporting:

Any Director or Officer who believes he or she has been the subject of harassment or otherwise improper conduct as set forth herein should report the alleged actimmediately to the President. If the complaint involves the President, the complaint should be brought to the attention of both the CEO and the Vice President.

Violations of RALSC's Standard of Conduct:

Any Director or Officer who violates RALSC's Standard of Conduct shall be subject to any and all disciplinary actions afforded by applicable law and the rules, regulations, policies, and procedures governing RALSC, including, but not limited to, the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Administrative Procedures Manual, and Code of Ethics and Standards of Practice of the National Association of Realtors, Florida Realtors, and RALSC. Such discipline may include removal as Director or Officer, the filing of an ethics complaint, the levying of fines, probation, suspension, and/or expulsion.

Director/Officer Signature

Director/Officer Printed Name

Director/Officer Title/Position

Date